A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

After Leonard Burgess was lent a cell phone, he ran away with 

it. He used no force, fear, or threats in taking the cell phone that was 

voluntarily handed to him. The State assumed the burden of proving 

Mr. Burgess used force, fear or threats in taking the phone. Because 

the State's evidence was insufficient, the conviction should be reversed 

and the charge dismissed. Alternatively, because the defense was 

improperly denied an instruction on the lesser included offense of third 

degree theft, and because the reasonable doubt instruction diluted and 

misstated the burden of proof, the matter should be remanded for a new 

trial. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Under the law of the case, as established in the jury 

instructions, insufficient evidence supported the conviction. 

2. The trial court erroneously denied the requested third degree 

theft instruction. 

3. The court ' s instruction misstated the definition of proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt and diluted the State's burden of proof. 
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4. The judgment and sentence contains a scrivener's error, 

citing to a statutory subsection not found by the jury, that should be 

corrected. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The State is required to prove the elements as set forth in the 

to convict instruction, unless it objects to those elements. The State 

proposed and did not object to the robbery in the first degree instruction 

that provided the jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

taking itself was accomplished by the use or threatened use of force, 

violence or fear of injury. Must the robbery conviction be reversed 

where there was no evidence that Mr. Burgess used or threatened force, 

fear, or violence in the taking of the cell phone? 

2. Upon request, an accused is entitled to have the jury 

instructed on a lesser included offense if affirmative evidence, viewing 

the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, creates a 

reasonable inference that only the lesser crime occurred. Where third 

degree theft is a lesser included offense of robbery in the first degree 

and affirmative evidence created a reasonable inference that only theft 

occurred because Mr. Burgess abandoned the stolen property before 
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any force or threat of force was used, should the trial court have 

provided the requested lesser offense instruction? 

3. In a criminal trial, the jury's role is to decide whether the 

prosecution met its burden of proof. The jury's duty is not to search for 

the truth. Over Mr. Burgess's objection, the court instructed the jury 

that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an "abiding 

belief in the truth of the charge." Did the court misstate and dilute the 

burden of proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on 

whether it believed the charge was true? 

4. Should the judgment and sentence be corrected to reflect 

accurately the offense for which Mr. Burgess was convicted? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Paul Sarkowsky, a shuttle van driver, was waiting for his next 

passenger in a parking lot at three in the morning when a man 

approached and asked to borrow his cell phone. 7/25/ l3 RP 44-47, 49-

50. At first, Mr. Sarkowsky denied having a phone, but after speaking 

with the man briefly, he decided to lend the man his cell phone. 

7/25/13 RP 51, 53. Mr. Sarkowsky dialed the number the man 

provided and handed him the phone. 7/25/13 RP 51-52. After hearing 

the man talking, Mr. Sarkowsky turned his attention away and the man 
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ran off with the phone. 7/25/ l3 RP 52-53, 89-90. Mr. Sarkowsky 

chased him but was about 25 yards behind and did not maintain the 

man in his line of sight the entire time. 7/25/13 RP 53-55, 90, 92-93. 

Mr. Sarkowsky ended up in the yard of a nearby residence where a 

woman heard him scuffling with another man and called 9-1-1. 

7/24/ l3 RP 90; 7/25/ l3 RP 22-27, 34. Mr. Sarkowsky told the man he 

just wanted his phone. 7/25/ l3 RP 55. The man told Sarkowsky 

several times to back off, and also said he had a knife. 7/25/13 RP 55-

56, 59-60. The man ran off as soon as he had a clear pathway to exit 

the yard. 7/25/ l3 RP 32, 37, 59-60, 65, 94. Mr. Sarkowsky sustained 

two lacerations. 7/25/13 RP 56, 68-71, 84. No one saw the phone 

while in the yard. 7/25/13 RP 37-38,60-62. 

Mr. Sarkowsky found his phone on the ground about seven 

hours later by tracking its location through his wife's cell phone. 

7/25/13 RP 77-83. The phone was located away from the parking lot 

from which it was taken and away from the yard in which the scuffle 

took place. Id. 

After searching the vicinity with a canine for 15 or 20 minutes, 

the police located Leonard Burgess under a vehicle several blocks away 

from the yard in which the scuffle took place. 7/24/13 RP 38-48, 50, 
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82-87,93-95, 105-09. He had neither a weapon nor a cell phone on 

him. 7/24/13 RP 50, 88. The police also did not find a cell phone and 

did not find a weapon, despite searching themselves and with the 

canine. 7/24/13 RP 88, 95-96; 7/25/13 RP 121-22, 141-48, 154-56, 

158-59. The police brought Mr. Sarkowsky to the scene where Mr. 

Burgess was surrounded by law enforcement officers. 7/25/13 RP 77. 

Mr. Sarkowsky identified Mr. Burgess although it was dark when the 

incident occurred and Mr. Sarkowsky did not pay attention to the 

appearance of the man to whom he lent his phone. 7/25/13 RP 78, 86-

87, 127-28; see 7/25/13 RP 103-04 (Sarkowsky does not typically pay 

attention to personal details). 

The State charged Mr. Burgess with robbery in the first degree 

with a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 1-2. The trial court denied 

Mr. Burgess's request that the jury be instructed on the lesser included 

offense of theft in the third degree. CP 30-35; 7/26/13 RP 3-12. The 

jury answered no to the deadly weapon special verdict but found Mr. 

Burgess guilty of the underlying crime. CP 42-43. 
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E. ARGUMENT 

1. Mr. Burgess's robbery in the first degree 
conviction violates due process because the State 
failed to prove that the taking was by the use or 
threatened use of force, as required by the law of 
the case. 

a. The State assumed the burden of proving the elements set 
forth in the to convict instruction. 

An accused may only be convicted if the State proves every 

element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely v. 

Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 300-01, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 

(2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466,120 S. Ct. 2348,147 L. 

Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 

L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). On a challenge to the sufficiency of the 

evidence, this Court must reverse a conviction when, after viewing the 

evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, no rational trier 

of fact could have found all the essential elements of the offense 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307,319,99 

S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34-

35,225 P.3d 237 (2010). 

The State assumes the burden of proving the elements set forth 

in the to convict instruction, even if it increases the State's burden. 

State v. Witherspoon, No. 88118-9, _ Wn.2d _,2014 WL 3537948, 
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*2 (July 17,2014). Jury instructions not objected to become the law of 

the case. Id.; State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-02,954 P.2d 900 

(1998). Where the State fails to object to an instruction on an element 

of the offense, the State must submit sufficient evidence to prove that 

element as delineated by the instructions. See, e.g., id. at 105; City of 

Spokane v. White, 102 Wn. App. 955, 964-65, 10 P.3d 1095 (2000); 

State v. Nam, 136 Wn. App. 698, 706-07, 150 P.3d 617 (2007); State v. 

Price, 33 Wn. App. 472,474-75,655 P.2d 1191 (1982). This holds 

true because, regardless of whether the instruction was rightfully given, 

once given it became binding and conclusive upon the jury. Hickman, 

135 Wn.2d at 101 n.2. 

This law of the case doctrine is sensible. A to convict 

instruction, like the one used here, serves as a yardstick by which the 

jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence. State v. 

Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258,263,930 P.2d 917 (1997). Jurors cannot be 

required to supply an element omitted from the to-convict instruction 

by referring to other jury instructions. Id. at 262-63. It is also critical 

that jury instructions make the law "'manifestly apparent to the average 

juror.'" State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 900, 913 P.2d 369 (1996) 

(quoting State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 595, 682 P.2d 312 (1984)). 
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"It cannot be said that a defendant has had a fair trial if the jury must 

guess at the meaning of an essential element of a crime or if the jury 

might assume that an essential element need not be proved." Smith, 

131 Wn.2d at 263. 

The Court's sufficiency analysis under a law of the case 

instruction applies the typical sufficiency analysis but compares the 

evidence to the instruction provided rather than to the generic elements 

of the offense. Reversal and dismissal are required if the evidence is 

insufficient to support the verdict. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 103. 

b. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
taking was by Mr. Burgess's use or threatened use of 
immediate force, violence or fear of injury, where Mr. 
Burgess simply ran from the van with the cell phone he had 
been given. 

Washington generally follows a transactional approach to 

robbery. State v. Johnson, 155 Wn.2d 609, 610-11, 121 P.3d 91 (2005) 

(discussing State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284,830 P.2d 641 (1992)). 

Under the transactional approach, the actual or threatened use of force 

may occur during the taking or retention of the property so long as it is 

not too attenuated from the taking. Jd.; see RCW 9A.56.190. 

However, here the State assumed a higher burden. The to-convict 

instruction provided the following element: "(3) That the taking was 
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against the person's will by the defendant's use or threatened use of 

immediate force, violence or fear of injury to that person." CP 56. 1 

The State proposed, and did not object to, this language. CP (Sub # 

39); 7/26/13 RP 3-14.2 

Thus, the State assumed the burden of proving that Mr. Burgess 

used or threatened to use immediate force, violence or fear of injury in 

the taking of the cell phone. See Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 101-02, 105. 

It is correct that the jury was provided with a definitional instruction for 

robbery, which provided that the "force or fear must be used to obtain 

or retain possession of the property or to prevent or overcome 

resistance to the taking." CP 58 (instruction 10) (emphasis added). But 

the to convict instruction obliterated this distinction by requiring that 

the taking was by the defendant's use or threatened use of force, 

violence or fear of injury. CP 56. The to convict instruction set forth 

each element that the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt and 

limited the manner in which the State could prove robbery. Smith, 131 

Wn.2d at 262-63. The jury is presumed to have followed the court's 

I A complete copy of instruction 8, the to convict instruction on robbery 
in the first degree, is attached as an Appendix. 

2 A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed requesting 
the Superior Court forward the State's proposed jury instructions and other 
documents designated in this brief by sub folder number to this Court for 
inclusion in the clerk's papers. 
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instructions. State v. Kirkman , 159 Wn.2d 918,928,155 P.3d 125 

(2007). The broader definitional instruction did not reduce the State's 

burden assumed in the to convict instruction. 

Looking at all the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

State, there is no support for this element. Mr. Sarkowsky testified that 

he handed his cell phone to Mr. Burgess willingly. 7/25/13 RP 49-53. 

Mr. Burgess appeared to use the cell phone. 7/25/13 RP 52. Mr. 

Sarkowsky took his attention away from Mr. Burgess and "next thing I 

knew, he was running towards the back of the parking lot." 7/25/13 RP 

53,89-90. Mr. Sarkowsky got out of his van and chased Mr. Burgess, 

who was already about 25 yards away from Mr. Sarkowsky. !d. No 

force, threatened force, violence or fear of injury was present in this 

taking. 

In short, the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Mr. Burgess took the property by use or threatened use of force, 

violence or fear of injury, an element assumed in the to convict 

instruction. 

10 



c. Because there was no evidence Mr. Burgess used force or 
fear in the taking of the cell phone, as the instructions 
required, the conviction must be reversed and the charge 
dismissed. 

If the State fails to prove an element beyond a reasonable doubt, 

the conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed with 

prejudice against refiling. E.g., Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319; State v. 

Green, 94 Wn.2d 216,221,616 P.2d 628 (1980); North Carolina v. 

Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969), 

reversed on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490 U. S. 794, 109 S. 

Ct. 2201, 104 L. Ed. 2d 865 (1989). Because the State failed to satisfy 

the burden it assumed, Mr. Burgess's conviction should be reversed 

and the charge dismissed. 

2. The trial court should have instructed the jury on 
the lesser included third degree theft because 
affirmative evidence showed Mr. Burgess no 
longer had the stolen phone when force or fear 
was used. 

An accused may only be convicted of those offenses charged in 

the information or those offenses which are either lesser included 

offenses or inferior degrees of the charged offense. U.S. Const. amend. 

VI; Const. art. I, § 22; Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, 717-18, 

109 S. Ct. 2091, 103 L. Ed. 734 (1989); State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 
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725,731,953 P.2d 450 (1998) (citing State v. Irizarry, III Wn.2d 591, 

592,763 P.2d 432 (1998); RCW 10.6l.003). 

An instruction on a lesser offense is warranted where: (1) each 

element of the lesser offense must necessarily be proved to establish the 

greater offense as charged (legal prong); and (2) the evidence in the 

case supports an inference that the lesser offense was committed 

(factual prong). State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448,454,6 

P.3d 1150 (2000); State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541,548,947 P.2d 700 

(1997); State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). 

In applying the factual prong, a court must view the supporting 

evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the 

instruction. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455-56. Additionally, 

affirmative evidence must support the inference that only the lesser 

offense was committed. Id. at 456. 

Here, Mr. Burgess requested a lesser included instruction on 

theft in the third degree. CP 30-35. There was no dispute that theft in 

the third degree satisfied the legal prong on the first degree robbery 

charge. CP _ (Sub #45, p.5 (State's brief on requested lesser included 

offense)); 7/26/13 RP 3-5. Nonetheless, the trial court denied the 
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instruction at the State's request because it found the factual prong 

lacking. 7/26/13 RP 5-12. This ruling was incorrect. 

Affinnative evidence supported the occurrence of only theft in 

the third degree. The distinction between theft and robbery in this case 

was whether Mr. Burgess used force or fear or threat to retain the 

phone. See RCW 9A.56.200; RCW 9A.56.050; CP _ (Sub #45, p.5). 

The force necessary for a robbery conviction "must be used to obtain or 

retain property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking." 

Johnson, 155 Wn.2d at 610-11; RCW 9A.56.190. Force used "to 

escape after peaceably-taken property has been abandoned" is 

insufficient to support a robbery. Johnson, 155 Wn.2d at 609-10. 

Thus, in the Johnson case, our Supreme Court reversed a robbery 

conviction where the defendant left the store with merchandise without 

paying but abandoned the merchandise and began to run away when 

two security guards approached him in the parking lot. [d. at 610-11. 

Because it was only after the defendant ran away from the merchandise 

that any force was used, the robbery conviction could not stand. [d. 

In the case at bar, there was affinnative evidence that Mr. 

Burgess had abandoned the phone before he reached the yard in which 

he and Mr. Sarkowsky scuffled. Mr. Sarkowsky testified that he did 
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not see the phone on Mr. Burgess while in the yard. 7/25/13 RP 60. 

He also testified there were a few moments when he could not see Mr. 

Burgess between when he saw Mr. Burgess with the phone and when 

they scuffled in the yard. 7/25/13 RP 92-93. Mr. Sarkowsky did not 

see Mr. Burgess after he left the yard. 7/25/13 RP 65-66. Further, the 

resident in whose yard the men scuffled did not see a phone on Mr. 

Burgess. 7/25/13 RP 37-38. Indeed, the phone was found hours later 

in a street away from the yard. 7/25/13 RP 79-83. If the phone was not 

in the yard with Mr. Burgess and no force or fear or threat was used 

prior to the yard, then only theft occurred. See Johnson, 155 Wn.2d at 

609-11; RCW 9A.56.200; RCW 9A.56.050. This constitutes 

affirmative evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Burgess that 

only theft occurred. 

While the State elicited testimony that Mr. Sarkowsky 

"believed" Mr. Burgess had the phone in the yard, that testimony does 

not even rise to the level of circumstantial evidence. 7/25/13 RP 109. 

Moreover the basis for the court's denial of the instruction is legally 

incorrect. The court denied the lesser instruction because it improperly 

weighed the affirmative evidence that only the lesser occurred against 

evidence that the greater occurred (robbery in the first degree). 7/26/13 
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RP 6-12. However, the evidence must be viewed in the light most 

favorable to Mr. Burgess because he requested the instruction. 

Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455-56. Thus, the court is not to 

weigh and evaluate the evidence or search for affirmative proof of the 

greater offense. Id. at 460-61. Rather, if there is affirmative evidence 

that only the lesser occurred the instruction should be provided. It is 

then the jury's job to weigh the evidence and determine whether Mr. 

Burgess was guilty of either offense. Id. at 460. 

The trial court erred in failing to provide a jury instruction on 

the lesser included offense of third degree theft. The conviction must 

be reversed and remanded for a new trial. Fernandez-Medina, 141 

Wn.2d at 462 (reversing conviction where court failed to give inferior 

degree instruction of assault 2). 

3. The court's instruction equating the reasonable 
doubt standard with an abiding belief in the truth 
of the charge diluted the State's burden of proof 
in violation of Mr. Burgess's due process right to a 
fair trial. 

"The jury's job is not to determine the truth of what happened; a 

jury therefore does not 'speak the truth' or 'declare the truth.'" State v. 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760,278 P.3d 653 (2012) (emphasis added) 

(quoting State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 
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(2009)); accord State v. Berube, 171 Wn. App. 103,286 P.3d 402 

(2012); State v. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 472-73, 284 P.3d 793 

(2012). "[A] jury's job is to determine whether the State has proved 

the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt." Emery, 174 Wn.2d 

at 760. Therefore, "[t]elling the jury that its job is to 'speak the truth,' 

or some variation thereof, misstates the burden of proof and is 

improper." State v. Lindsay, _ Wn.2d _,326 P.3d 125, 132 (2014). 

Confusing jury instructions raise a due process concern because 

they may wash away or dilute the presumption of innocence. State v. 

Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315-16,165 P.3d 1241 (2007). The court 

bears the obligation to vigilantly protect the presumption of innocence. 

Id. "[A] jury instruction misstating the reasonable doubt standard is 

subject to automatic reversal without any showing of prejudice." 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 757 (quoting Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 

281-82,113 S. Ct. 2078,124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993)). 

Although the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard may be a 

complicated one to explain, it is not beyond explanation. For example, 

the United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit recommends 

the following model language: 

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves you 
firmly convinced the defendant is guilty. It is not 
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required that the government prove guilt beyond all 
possible doubt. 

A reasonable doubt is a doubt based upon reason and 
common sense and is not based purely on speculation. It 
may arise from a careful and impartial consideration of 
all the evidence, or from lack of evidence. 

If after a careful and impartial consideration of all the 
evidence, you are not convinced beyond a reasonable 
doubt that the defendant is guilty, it is your duty to find 
the defendant not guilty. On the other hand, if after a 
careful and impartial consideration of all the evidence, 
you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
defendant is guilty, it is your duty to find the 
defendant guilty. 

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, Manual of Model Criminal Jury 

Instructions § 3.5 (2014); see United States v. Ruiz, 462 F.3d 1082, 

1087 (9th Cir. 2006) (upholding use of model instruction). 

Washington has also adopted a model instruction. It provides, 

in relevant part: 

A defendant is p~esumed innocent. This presumption 
continues throughout the entire trial unless during your 
deliberations you find it has been overcome by the 
evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

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