70903-8

70903-8

NO. 70903-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LEONARD W. BURGESS, III,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MONICA J. BENTON

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

ERIN H. BECKER
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 296-9650

~~FILED~~
COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I
STATE OF WASHINGTON
OCT 23 PM 3:04

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

Burgess claims that the State's evidence was insufficient to support a guilty verdict for Robbery in the First Degree. Specifically, he argues that the evidence was insufficient to show that he took Sarkowsky's phone against his will by the use or threatened use of force, violence, or fear of injury. But Burgess construes the meaning of a "taking" too narrowly, to

include only the moment at which the phone transferred from Sarkowsky's hand to his. Because "taking" has a much broader legal meaning in the context of robbery, the evidence amply demonstrated that Burgess used force to take Sarkowsky's phone. Burgess's claim should be rejected.

Evidence is sufficient if, taken in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)). A claim of insufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "[A]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." Id. (citation omitted).

The "to convict" instruction is a yardstick by which the jury measures a defendant's guilt. State v. Mills, 154 Wn.2d 1, 6, 109 P.3d 415 (2005). Therefore, it must be a complete statement of the crime and contain every element of the crime charged. Id. at 8. Unless objected to, jury instructions become the law of the case. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). If an element is included without objection in the "to convict" instruction, the State assumes the burden of proving that element, even if it is an extraneous one. Id.

At trial, Burgess's jury was instructed that, to convict him of the crime of Robbery in the First Degree, the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about February 18, 2013, the defendant unlawfully took personal property from the person or in the presence of another;
- (2) That the defendant intended to commit theft of the property;
- (3) That the taking was against the person's will by the defendant's use or threatened use of immediate force, violence or fear of injury to that person;
- (4) That force or fear was used by the defendant to obtain or retain possession of the property [or] to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking;
- (5)(a) That in the commission of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon or (b) That in the commission of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant inflicted bodily injury; and
- (6) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 56.

Burgess argues that there was insufficient evidence that he took Sarkowsky's phone by force (element 3). Implicit in his argument is the assumption that a "taking" is completed at the moment that the stolen property comes into the robber's hands. If this limited sense of taking were that term's only meaning, then Burgess would be correct. It was uncontested at trial that Sarkowsky initially provided his phone to Burgess willingly, so that he could make a phone call. 4RP 50-52.

But such a narrow reading of the term “taking” in the context of the crime of robbery is inconsistent with Washington law.² First, the definition of robbery itself makes plain that a taking is more than the initial transfer of property into the robber’s hands. The crime of robbery is defined by statute:

A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial. Such taking constitutes robbery whenever it appears that, although the taking was fully completed without the knowledge of the person from whom taken, such knowledge was prevented by the use of force or fear.

RCW 9A.56.190. By its plain terms, the taking referenced in the first sentence, which must be accomplished by force, includes at least obtaining possession of the property and retaining possession of the property. Thus, taking has a broader meaning than just initial acquisition.

Second, Washington courts have construed the robbery statute in just this way. In observing that the legislature has adopted a “transactional” view of robbery—such that the crime is not complete until the robber has escaped with the stolen property—this Court has

² Burgess’s jury was also not provided with such a cramped definition of the term.

determined that the robbery statute “broaden[ed] the scope of taking.”

State v. Manchester, 57 Wn. App. 765, 770, 790 P.2d 217 (1990).

The Supreme Court explicitly agreed. In a case where the defendant took a girl’s bicycle while she was not present, refused to surrender it to her when she returned, then threw rocks at her and assaulted her until she abandoned the bicycle to him, the court affirmed a conviction for robbery. State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 830 P.2d 641 (1992). In so doing, the court adopted the reasoning of Manchester, describing it as holding that “a taking can be accomplished either by forcibly acquiring the property from the owner’s person or in his presence or by acquiring possession of property in the owner’s absence and using force, violence, or threats to retain possession.” Id. at 288 (first emphasis added); see also id. at 290 (“Implicit in the Manchester holding is the assumption a taking can be ongoing or continuing so that the later use of force to retain the property taken renders the actions a robbery. Stated differently, a forceful retention of stolen property in the owner’s presence is the type of ‘taking’ contemplated by the robbery statute even where the initial appropriation ensued outside the owner’s presence.”). The Handburgh court also observed that the language “[s]uch taking” in the third sentence of the robbery statute referred back to the second sentence, discussing obtaining

or retaining, and inferred that the definition of taking thus includes retention.

With this broader understanding of the definition of “taking,” there is ample evidence in the record to support the jury’s finding that Burgess used force to take Sarkowsky’s phone. The uncontradicted evidence was that—after borrowing Sarkowsky’s phone and then fleeing with it—Burgess successfully fought off Sarkowsky’s attempt to recover his phone by slashing him with a knife. 4RP 50-57. Any rational trier of fact could have found that the State’s evidence met this definition of taking. The evidence was sufficient, and Burgess’s conviction should be affirmed.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE INCLUDED OFFENSE OF THEFT IN THE THIRD DEGREE.

Burgess contends that the trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the included offense of Theft in the Third Degree. But the evidence did not show that only the included offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense. The evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated that Burgess was still in possession of the stolen property at the time that he assaulted Sarkowsky. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Burgess sought to have the jury instructed on the included offense of Theft in the Third Degree. CP 31, 33-35; 5RP 3-5. The trial court

refused the proposed instructions. 5RP 11-12. The jury convicted Burgess of Robbery in the First Degree, although it rejected the deadly weapon enhancement. CP 42-43.

Washington law permits a defendant charged with one offense to be convicted of another if commission of the second offense is necessarily included within the offense charged in the Information.³ RCW 10.61.006. A defendant has a statutory right to have the jury instructed on an included offense when each element of the included offense is a necessary element of the charged offense (the legal prong) and the evidence supports an inference that only the included crime was committed (the factual prong). State v. Nguyen, 165 Wn.2d 428, 434, 197 P.3d 673 (2008) (citing State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)); State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 725, 728-29, 953 P.2d 450 (1998). The included offense also must arise from the same act or transaction supporting the greater offense. Nguyen, 165 Wn.2d at 435.

The State concedes that the legal prong has been met. A person commits the crime of Robbery in the First Degree, as charged here, if he “unlawfully and with intent to commit theft take[s] personal property of another” from that person or in his presence, “against his will, by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence and fear of injury” to that

³ Such offenses are routinely referred to as “lesser included offenses,” even though the word “lesser” does not appear in the statute.

person, and was either armed with a deadly weapon or inflicted bodily injury on the person. CP 1; RCW 9A.56.190, .200(1)(a)(i), (iii). A person commits the crime of Theft in the Third Degree when he commits theft of property or services.⁴ RCW 9A.56.050(1). “Theft,” in turn, means “[t]o wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive.” RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a). And, “wrongfully obtains” or “exerts unauthorized control” means, among other things, “[t]o take the property or services of another.” RCW 9A.56.010(22)(a). The primary difference between theft and robbery is the use of force. State v. Shcherenkoy, 146 Wn. App. 619, 630, 191 P.3d 99 (2008). Thus, Theft in the Third Degree is included in the offense of Robbery.

The State also concedes that the purported included offense of theft is based on the same acts as the charged offense of robbery.

The second prong of the Workman test, however, has not been satisfied. In determining whether the factual prong has been met, the evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the defendant, it must be substantial, and it must raise an inference that only the included offense was committed. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448,

⁴ Although the statute states that third-degree theft requires that the value of the property or services stolen not exceed \$750, value is not an essential element of Theft in the Third Degree. State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 219, 222-23, 118 P.3d 885 (2005).

455-56, 461, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). “[T]he evidence must affirmatively establish the defendant’s theory of the case—it is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt.” Id. at 456 (citation omitted). When the trial court declines to instruct the jury on an included offense because the evidence does not meet the factual prong of the Workman test, this Court reviews for abuse of discretion. State v. Hunter, 152 Wn. App. 30, 43, 216 P.3d 421 (2009).

Here, Burgess contends that he abandoned the phone before he used force, so no robbery occurred. Brief of Appellant at 13. Burgess is correct that, if he had abandoned the stolen phone before he used force, such that the force was used to escape rather than to obtain or retain the stolen property, he would be guilty of theft instead of robbery. State v. Johnson, 155 Wn.2d 609, 609-10, 121 P.3d 91 (2005). But there is no affirmative evidence that Burgess abandoned the phone before the physical confrontation with Sarkowsky. Instead, all of the evidence is to the contrary.

Sarkowsky testified that as he ran after Burgess, he saw that Burgess had the stolen phone in his hand. 4RP 55, 62. He kept Burgess in view while he was chasing him, taking his eyes off of him only for the brief moments that he took to pick up a gym bag and flashlight that Burgess threw down as he fled. 4RP 54-55, 90-93. Although Sarkowsky

saw Burgess drop the gym bag and flashlight, he did not see him drop the phone. 4RP 63.

During the confrontation in Litvinenko's backyard, Sarkowsky told Burgess that he just wanted the phone back, and asked Burgess why he wanted it. 4RP 55, 60, 62. Instead of claiming he had discarded it, Burgess said he wanted the phone for money. 4RP 55, 94. Sarkowsky believed that Burgess still had the phone while they were in Litvinenko's backyard. 4RP 109. No evidence was presented to the contrary.

Further, Burgess must have still had the phone as a matter of logic. Sarkowsky testified that Burgess first contacted him at the front of the Safeway parking lot located at 15th Avenue Northwest and Northwest 85th Street. 4RP 47-49; Ex. 6, 11. When Burgess ran off with the phone, he ran east towards the back of the parking lot, north on Mary Avenue Northwest across 85th, then east between a house and apartment into Litvinenko's backyard. 4RP 53-54; Ex. 6; see also 4RP 19-21 (Litvinenko placed a yellow sticker on exhibit 6 to identify her home). After stabbing Sarkowsky, Burgess left the backyard, then turned right and ran north on Mary—away from the Safeway. 4RP 32, 65-66; Ex. 6.

Several hours later, Sarkowsky used an app to find his phone. 4RP 79. He located it at the intersection of Mary and Northwest 87th Street—north of Litvinenko's home. 4RP 79-83. In other words, the

phone was found beyond the areas where Burgess ran from and interacted with Sarkowsky. Thus, Burgess could not have discarded the phone where it was found until after he used force against Sarkowsky.

There was no affirmative evidence in the record that would support a finding that Burgess discarded the stolen phone before he stabbed Sarkowsky. The uncontroverted evidence was to the contrary. Although the jury might have disbelieved the evidence, that is insufficient as a matter of law to support an included-offense instruction. The trial court thus did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the evidence did not show that Burgess committed only the included offense of third-degree theft to the exclusion of first-degree robbery. Burgess's conviction must be affirmed.

3. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED REGARDING THE MEANING OF REASONABLE DOUBT.

Burgess argues that the court improperly instructed the jury on the burden of proof where the court used the traditional "abiding belief" language in Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 4.01. This argument should be rejected. The use of the challenged language was correct, and has consistently been upheld as a proper statement of the law.

Due process requires the State to prove all of the essential elements of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt before a defendant may be

convicted. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). The court’s instructions must make this burden of proof clear to the jury. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). “It is reversible error to instruct the jury in a manner relieving the State of its burden to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. (citing Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 280-81, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993)). Challenged jury instructions are reviewed de novo and are evaluated in the context of the instructions as a whole. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 171, 892 P.2d 29 (1995).

Here, in pertinent part, the court instructed the jury as follows:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, after such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 49 (emphasis added).

Courts have repeatedly held that the abiding belief language is a correct statement of the law regarding reasonable doubt. The U.S. Supreme Court has approved nearly identical language as properly explaining the concept. Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 14-15, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994) (considering instruction that jurors must have “an abiding conviction, to a moral certainty, of the truth of the

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